ATTLEBOROUGH
A walking tour

By Peter Lee
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[image: image2.jpg](The Bull Inn, Attleborough, around the turn of the twentieth century. This ar

still operating today. It is believed to date back to the cighteenth century and was immortaliz ed
as The Rainbow in George Eliot’s novel Silas Marner. In this view you can see the old bar gate
which was part of the Nuneaton-Wolvey turnpike road. A toll-house used to stand here but it
moved up to a site opposite the gates of Attleborough cemetery. It must have been a nuisance to
the commercial traffic of Attleborough wishing to travel just a a mile or so to Nuneaton town.
The road to the right goes to Chilvers Coton. (Photograph courtesy of Nuneaton Library)
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Attleborough Hall

Observatory was 

added in the 1890’s.

Notice how the whole

building has become

covered in ivy. 

This was a common

feature at the time,

which gave the

impression that 

buildings were

growing out of the

undergrowth.
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ATTLEBOROUGH STONE QUARRIES 
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The Old School at Chilvers Coton. The best surviving building using Attleborough Stone

Attleborough freestone has been worked from medieval times. It is a form of sandstone, which was ideal for building purposes being easy to cut and shape into regular shaped blocks with little waste. It was durable and resistant to weathering. Trade directories described Attleborough Stone as: “White, excellent freestone sent to various parts of the kingdom” Many important local buildings were constructed from Attleborough stone. When these were demolished the blocks were often re-used for new building either by being robbed out or sold on demolition. It was regarded as a high quality material, and you would have seen buildings faced with Attleborough sandstone to the street, whereas the side and rear walls were in hard rubble diorite from the Hartshill quarries, or in brick from the local brickyards. Eventually brick superseded Attleborough stone because they were much cheaper, more abundant, and easier to transport. There were dozens of brick kilns in the Nuneaton and Bedworth area. By the mid 19th century a brickyard was incorporated into the quarry. The stone was also used by monumental masons for headstones. The stone was actually light grey in colour.

Here is a list of a few identified buildings, which used Attleborough stone in their construction, although there must be more still surviving in the local area:

Horestone Grange, Nuneaton’s medieval manor house erected in the 9th century but burnt down c. 1760, and the site robbed out. (Horestone, means grey stone which it was built out of.) 

St. Nic(h)olas Parish Church, Nuneaton and perimeter wall.

Chilvers Coton Old School (now the Chilvers Coton Heritage Centre)

All Saints Church, Chilvers Coton

The garden wall around the Bull Inn, Attleborough

Coventry Cross erected in the 16th century

Royal Military Barracks and Ordnance Depot, Weedon, Northamptonshire.

Attleborough Hall now demolished.

Weddington Hall (thought to have been dismantled, the stone blocks numbered and shipped to the U.S. for re-construction)

Wolverton (Milton Keynes) Parish Church

Witherley Parish Church

Stretton on Dunsmore Parish Church

Shilton Parish Church

Rupert’s Tower, Leicester

Nuneaton Workhouse now demolished

Hinckley Parish Church

Atherstone Parish Church

(I suspect that church building and mansion house construction was a major source of business)

 The quarry used to extend a considerable distance from Lutterworth Road adjacent to the railway, across to Bulkington Lane, with outlying pits worked sporadically such as the “Dumble Holes” near Teddy Kem’s Heaven farm which was being worked in 1832 by a man named Everitt. 

Stone in the quarry was effectively worked out by the 1930’s and has been partially infilled by domestic rubbish. It now lies under Paul’s Land recreation ground. Part has been built over for housing development.  The last piece of stone hewn from the quarry has been preserved in the front garden of a house in Quarry Lane.

Within the curtilage of the Quarry was a windmill which ceased to grind corn in 1910.

Known Proprietors are: Nathan Smart (listed as a stone mason, during the period 1828-1841); Joseph Barnwell (listed as a stone mason, quarry owner by 1850). William Seal (by 1863-66), Foxwell & Davies (quarry proprietors and brickmakers) (by 1874 and 1884), David Parker (by 1888), Thomas Smith (Builder, quarry owner, brickmaker by 1892 and his firm until the 1930’s. Thomas Smith (Builders) built the Chase, now the Chase Hotel, Coton Arches, Newdigate Hotel, and former Midland Bank and other important Nuneaton buildings) 

A siding was put in on the London & North Western Railway, Trent Valley Line. In addition to stone traffic the siding may have been used for local deliveries of coal for distribution in the Attleborough area. The main line connection was disused by 1900 although the signal box controlling it was in use until the 1960’s as a fringe box for Nuneaton. There was also a short internal narrow gauge tramway, possibly hand worked or by horses, for removal of the stone from the working faces to the cutting area.  

The Coventry canal was some distance away but was used for long distance haulage of Attleborough stone as deliveries of materials are known to have been made by canal from this source. Transport to and from the canal loading point was by horse and cart



Church Street, 


c. 1905. Jireh chapel to the left.





Bull Street





Harry Green’s Hairdresser’s Shop


Still there but rebuilt and re-fronted.


This row of buildings probably dates back to the 18th century.  The archway, which formerly led through to a back yard, has now been filled in by a shop frontage.


Narrow bricks in this row are indicative of a building date before 1800.
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Attleborough Hall was erected in 1809 at a cost of £16,000. Another £1000 was expended on laying out the pleasure grounds. George Greenway (1761-1835) had it built. He was a local lawyer, and local character. It was said when he died to be the last man in the district to wear his hair in a queue (or pony tail) in the style of the 18th century. This photo is believed to have been taken on 10th May 1885 when the Townsends held their 50th wedding anniversary. It gives some idea of the extensive


gardens at the rear of the hall. 
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The Albion buildings were constructed in the 1840’s. They were silk weavers cottages with a long workshop above powered by steam. In order to connect up their looms the weavers hooked on their loom belts to the endlessly rotating shafts, which powered their machinery.  By the 1880’s the firm of George Leake & Co. took over the silk business. Another important occupant was the firm of A.W.Phillips Ltd. manufacturers of tennis balls, and football cases. This firm is still going but nearly all their products are made in the Far East today. The top engine storey was removed in 1968.








Lister’s mill was erected in 1858. Thomas Townsend (1813-1886) had it built. He was a Bedworth lad made good. He went into the silk and cotton trade in West Orchards, Coventry. He was also the owner of the Centaur Cycle Company, in Coventry, which started in 1876. When Thomas Townsend died his executors sold the mill to Listers of Manningham in 1891. Listers made velvet. This luxurious plush material was much in demand in the Victorian period for furniture and curtains, etc. Lister’s operation kept many local ladies in employment, whilst their husbands worked in the mines, quarries, brickyards, on the railway, and in the many manufacturing businesses that once existed in the area.  Lister’s Attleborough velvet was used in the seating cushions at the Coronation of Queen Elizabeth II





Caldwell Hall was built on the site of the former Cuttle Mill, about 1776.





It was part of the estates of the Harpur family of Burton Latimer. They sold it in 1870. The last occupant was Phillip Rufus Jones. It was demolished in the late 1940’s.  Part of the estate being sold for industrial use. The local council uses another area as a sports field.


The name Caldwell comes from one of the Harpur’s estates in Worcestershire, Caldwell near Kidderminster.
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The Pingles A lovely picture reminds us of the innocent days when kids used to paddle in the Wem Brook in the Pingle Fields. The brook where the children are has been cleaned and the water is bright. This side of the small weir is clogged with detritus and weeds.  Concrete steps have been provided and parents used to sit on them to watch their children splash about in the stream. The threat of polio in the 1950’s ended these innocent pleasures.
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George Eliot 


modelled 


Silas Marner 


on a lonely linen 


weaver who carried


 a sack on his back, 


and lived near the 


Dumble Hole 


quarry.


He was a lonely 


character who 


kept away from 


his neighbours.


As a five year 


old George Eliot 


attended school 


at Attleborough. 


Could this be


how the Silas


Marner story


originated? 





Kem’s farm, or “Teddy Kem’s Heaven” was close to Sterling Metals plant. The name derives from two generations of Kem, Joseph Kem who died in 1779, and probably his son Edward Kem (1722-1800) who was a lonely linen weaver who shunned the locals of Attleborough and was thought to hoard gold in his lonely farm by the Dumble Hole’s Quarry. Hence the name “Gold Close” on the local housing estate which covers the site. Teddy Kem features in local folklore and haunting legends.
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Sterling Metals factory was opened in 1939 as a safeguard against potential enemy action during world war two. Their original plant was in Coventry. The Marston Lane factory covered a massive site. There was an iron foundry and an aluminium castings plant. They made engine components for all sorts of aircraft, motor vehicles and power plants. A line of trees was planted to shield the plant from the suburbs of Attleborough. You can see Stermet Hall in the lower centre of the picture with Marston Lane running parallel in the foreground and from the centre lower edge of the picture to the right the Wem Brook. The factory provided hundreds of jobs for local people. It was demolished in 1994-5 and the site used for housing. A siding was provided from the Trent Valley main line, which came into use in 1955 on completion of a new iron foundry to enable iron to be delivered by rail. It was only a short-lived affair and rail traffic ceased by 1963/4. 
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